FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/2/2021 2:40 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>100432-0</u> COURT OF APPEALS NO. 37121-2-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

JEREMIAH GILBERT,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID R. QUESNEL Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner

Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney 206 S Columbus Ave, Rm. 106 Goldendale, Washington 99620 (509) 773-5838

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Respondent below, respectfully requests that this Court review the unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals in State v.

Gilbert, No. 37121-2-III (November 2, 2021), a copy of which is attached as Appendix A.

B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

Should this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in this case, which conflicts with this Court's decision in State v. Ramos, and presents a significant question of constitutional law and an issue of substantial public interest? How should a resentencing court consider the facts of the crime and the input of victims and their survivors when imposing sentence on a person who committed multiple murders and other serious violent offenses as a teenager? May a court

- 1 -

¹ 187 Wn.2d 420, 387 P.3d 650 (2017).

impose a more severe sentence on a teenager convicted of multiple murders, who remains a moderate risk to reoffend, than on a teenager convicted of a single murder, who is at low risk to reoffend?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Jeremiah Gilbert was convicted in 1993 for aggravated first-degree murder, premeditated first-degree murder, first-degree robbery with a deadly weapon, first-degree burglary with a deadly weapon, and first-degree theft, all committed when he was almost 16 years old. Originally sentenced to life without parole (LWOP) as the then-mandatory sentence for the aggravated murder, Gilbert has been twice resentenced.

By the time of his latest resentencing, the Indeterminate
Sentence Review Board (ISRB) had already paroled Gilbert
from his aggravated murder sentence to begin serving the

consecutive sentence for first-degree premeditated murder.² The superior court received and gave meaningful consideration to Gilbert's mitigation evidence, including both his childhood experiences and his post-conviction efforts at rehabilitation. In part because of Gilbert's lengthy history of serious prison infractions, including attacking a prison guard at age 30 and instigating a physical fight with another inmate at age 40, and in part because psychological testing revealed that Gilbert retains antisocial personality characteristics and remains a significant risk to reoffend, the court concluded that neither Gilbert's youthfulness nor his proffered mitigation provided a substantial and compelling reason to impose an exceptional sentence below the range. The court reduced Gilbert's sentence

² Gilbert's situation is unlike other juvenile sentencing cases presented to this Court in that his need for resentencing was triggered by the literal LWOP sentence originally imposed for the aggravated murder, but since he had already been released from that sentence, the principal concern of the second resentencing hearing was the sentence for the nonaggravated first-degree murder.

for first-degree murder by 40 months, imposing a low-end, standard-range sentence of 240 months, consecutive to the aggravated murder sentence that he had already completed. RP 185-86. Gilbert will be released when he is 60 years old.

Without inviting the parties to brief the impact of this Court's recent decision in State v. Haag, ___ Wn.2d ___, 495 P.3d 241 (2021), Division Three of the Court of Appeals held that Haag required reversal. Slip op. at 10. In Haag, this Court held that a 46-year sentence is an unconstitutional de facto life sentence under both state and federal constitutions, and that a resentencing court misapplies the law and abuses its discretion when it places undue weight on the facts of the crime, the victims of the crime, and the penological objective of retribution when sentencing juvenile homicide offender.

Declining to distinguish Haag on its facts, Division Three observed:

While the defendant in <u>Haag</u> was convicted of only one murder, the court's decision was not influenced by the quantity or quality of convictions for which the defendant

was sentenced. Instead, in reaching this decision, the court focused on the impact the sentence would have on the defendant.

Slip op. at 10.

The Court of Appeals further concluded that a 45-year sentence for Gilbert, who was 15 years old when he committed his crimes, was an unconstitutional life sentence under <u>Haag</u>, perfunctorily stating, "[T]here is no meaningful difference between a 46-year sentence and a 45-year sentence." Slip op. at 10.

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court where a decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, raises a significant question of law under the Washington State or United States Constitution, or deals with an issue of substantial public interest. These criteria are met here. The decision below interprets this Court's juvenile

sentencing jurisprudence to bar consideration of the facts of the crimes committed, the impact on the victims, and the legitimate penological objective of promoting respect for the law by providing punishment that is just. Moreover, the decision below categorically bans 45-year sentences for all juvenile offenders with no meaningful analysis or persuasive reasoning. This Court should accept review to correct such a significant and unwarranted expansion of constitutional principles.

1. THE DECISION BELOW CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>RAMOS</u> AND THE WELL-SETTLED PRINCPLE THAT APPELLATE COURTS DO NOT REWEIGH EVIDENCE ON REVIEW.

In <u>State v. Ramos</u>, this Court upheld an 85-year de facto life sentence imposed upon a person who murdered a family of four including two children when he was 14 years old. 187 Wn.2d 420, 429-30, 387 P.3d 650 (2017). Ramos was

resentenced after Miller.³ This Court held that "a properly conducted Miller hearing does not in any way permit sentencing courts to disregard the number of victims in determining an appropriate sentence," observing that "Miller explicitly requires sentencing courts 'to take into account the differences among defendants *and crimes*." 187 Wn.2d at 438 (quoting Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2469 n.8) (emphasis supplied by this Court). This Court clarified that a Miller resentencing court "must receive and consider relevant mitigation evidence bearing on the *circumstances of the offense* and the culpability of the offender, including both expert and lay testimony as appropriate." Id. at 443 (emphasis added).

This Court concluded that the resentencing court in Ramos did not abuse its discretion when it "clearly received and considered Ramos' extensive mitigation evidence, was fully aware of its authority to impose an exceptional sentence

³ Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012).

below the standard range, and reasonably considered the issues identified in Miller when making its decision." Id. at 453.

Accordingly, this Court affirmed the de facto life sentence under the Eighth Amendment. Id. The court emphasized the deference due to the resentencing judge: "Although we cannot say that every reasonable judge would necessarily make the same decisions as the court did here, we cannot reweigh the evidence on review." Id. (emphasis added).

Here, Division Three detailed the considerable evidence received by the resentencing court in this case. Slip op. at *3-9. This involved expert testimony, psychological evaluations by two expert psychologists, documentation of Gilbert's achievements in prison, testimony about Gilbert's early life and family, his lack of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), the support Gilbert's family could offer him on release, Gilbert's conduct and culpability for the murders of two men, as well as testimony by the surviving victim and family of those slain, which "recounted how the murders had dramatically affected

their lives and continued to cause trauma each time Mr. Gilbert was resentenced." Slip op. at *3-9. In recognition of these circumstances, the resentencing court reduced Gilbert's sentence from the middle to the low end of the standard sentencing range, but concluded that Gilbert had not shown that his crimes were the result of transient immaturity or that he had been successfully rehabilitated. Slip op. at 8.

Acknowledging "evidence showing he is moving towards rehabilitation while incarcerated," the court found that Gilbert's 2017 infraction, which involved instigating a physical fight with another inmate, evidenced "a lack of impulse control and/or the ability to follow reasonable orders." RP 183. The court further noted that Gilbert's psychological testing indicated that he "still exhibits anti-social personality characteristics," that a violence risk assessment showed a high risk to re-offend, and that another assessment indicated that Gilbert still has "problems [with] insight and violent ideation or intent," and that his overall risk to re-offend was moderate. RP 184.

Under <u>Ramos</u>, Division Three should have affirmed the resentencing court's reasoned decision. Instead, interpreting this court's decision in <u>Haag</u> to require the resentencing court to disregard the "quantity or quality of convictions for which the defendant was sentenced," and focus *exclusively* on "the impact the sentence would have on the defendant," Division Three reweighed the evidence for itself, reversing and remanding for a third resentencing. This represents a conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Ramos</u>, misinterpretation of <u>Haag</u>, and warrants review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. <u>HAAG</u> IS DISTINGUISHABLE AND ITS ONE-SIZE-FITS-ALL APPROACH TO RESENTENCING THOSE WHO KILLED AS TEENAGERS IS INCONSISTENT WITH LONG-STANDING PRINCIPLES OF SENTENCING LAW IN WASHINGTON.

The legislature has plenary authority over sentencing.

State v. Jones, 182 Wn.2d 1, 7, 338 P.3d 278 (2014). In

Washington, the legislature has established a system of guided

discretion in sentencing that explicitly requires consideration of both the offender's prior criminal history and the seriousness of the crimes of conviction. This structure applies to most offenses, but the legislature drastically limited sentencing discretion when it came to the most serious crime, mandating the death penalty or life sentences for aggravated murder. See LAWS OF 1981, ch. 138, § 3. By interpreting this Court's decision in Haag to bar a 45-year cumulative sentence for a juvenile homicide defendant regardless of the quantity and quality of the crimes of conviction, Division Three ignored timeless principles of punishment, significant distinctions between Haag and this case, failed to consider the nature and purposes of the Sentencing Reform Act, and undermined legislative authority to determine sentences. This Court should accept review of this significant question of constitutional law and public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

a. Background Of The Sentencing Reform Act.

The SRA was enacted in 1981. Before then, judges exercised broad sentencing discretion, setting the minimum and maximum terms of imprisonment and the Board of Prison

Terms and Parole determined how much of the sentence would be served. See former chapter 9.95 RCW (1979). Under the indeterminate sentencing scheme, judges had virtually unfettered discretion, leaving little room for appellate review.

See David Boerner, Sentencing in Washington: A Legal

Analysis of the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 § 9.2 (1985).

Although the goal of pre-SRA indeterminate sentencing was to allow for rehabilitation and redemption, "this was often not realized." State v. McFarland, 118 Wn. App. 2d 528, 537, 492 P.3d 829 (2021). "Instead, pre-SRA sentences were frequently disproportionate and racially skewed." Id. (citing Dan Kilpatrick & Jack Brummel, Sentencing Study, 52 Wash. L. Rev. 103, 118 (1976)). The SRA was designed to address these problems by structuring a judge's discretion in a way that

ties sentencing decisions to the crime or crimes of conviction.

Under the SRA, each count of conviction is assigned a

determinate sentencing range based on the statute of conviction
and the defendant's criminal history. Sentences within that
range ordinarily may not be appealed. RCW 9.94A.585(1).

Although the SRA reduced judicial discretion at sentencing, it did not eliminate it altogether. Exceptional sentence provisions allow judges to depart from the standard sentencing range in limited circumstances. To impose a sentence below the standard range, the sentencing court must find "substantial and compelling" mitigating circumstances, "established by the preponderance of the evidence." RCW 9.94A.535(1). The burden to prove substantial and compelling circumstances falls on the defendant. Ramos, 187 Wn.2d at 445. This Court has determined that allocating to juvenile offenders the burden to prove youthful mitigation is constitutional. State v. Gregg, 196 Wn.2d 473, 479-83, 474 P.3d 539 (2020). As for the most serious offenses, however,

the legislature decided that an offender must face either a death sentence or life imprisonment, as determined by a jury. Former RCW 10.95.030 (2013).

Our legislature thus adopted a sentencing structure intended to ensure that the sentence imposed reflects both the seriousness of the crimes committed and the offender's history and circumstances, allowing for departure when warranted by the offender or the crime.

b. This Court Should Grant Review To
Resolve The Conflict Between Its Own
Decisions And Provide Meaningful
Guidance To Sentencing And Resentencing
Courts.

As explained above, this Court in Ramos affirmed, under the Eighth Amendment, an 85-year de facto life sentence because the resentencing court received and considered evidence of mitigation, even though it ultimately was not persuaded to impose an exceptional sentence. In affirming the trial court's discretion, this Court provided guidance about what

courts resentencing former juvenile non-aggravated murder offenders must consider.⁴ 187 Wn.2d at 443.

At the *Miller* hearing, the court must meaningfully consider how juveniles are different from adults, how those differences apply to the facts of the case, and whether those facts present the uncommon situation where a life-without-parole sentence for a juvenile homicide offender is constitutionally permissible. If the juvenile proves by a preponderance of the evidence that his or her crimes reflect transient immaturity, substantial and compelling reasons would necessarily justify an exceptional sentence below the standard range because a standard range sentence would be unconstitutional.

<u>Id.</u> at 434-35.

The resentencing court must also consider the offender's chronological age and the hallmark features of youth, the offender's family and home environment at the time of the offense, the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation, and whether the "incompetencies of youth" had any impact on the proceedings.

Id. at 443-44.

⁴ RCW 10.95.030(3)(b) outlines the factors a court considers when sentencing juvenile aggravated murderers.

Because Ramos' resentencing court "clearly received and considered Ramos' extensive mitigation evidence, was fully aware of its authority to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range, and reasonably considered the issues identified in Miller when making its decision," this Court held the resentencing court acted within its discretion. Id. at 453. Stated another way, as long as the sentencing court gives due consideration to how juveniles differ from adults and how that concept applies to the crimes at issue, it remains within the court's discretion to impose a standard-range de facto life sentence unless the offender proves by a preponderance that youth is a substantial and compelling mitigating factor. Id. This Court noted that reasonable judges could disagree with the resentencing court's decision, but nevertheless affirmed because "we cannot reweigh the evidence on review." Id. at 453.

Since reinforcing trial court discretion to impose even de facto life sentences upon due consideration of an offender's

mitigation evidence in <u>Ramos</u>, this Court has reversed two resentencing decisions on grounds that the sentencing court failed to properly weigh mitigation evidence. State v.

<u>Delbosque</u> involved the resentencing of a man who brutally murdered two young people when he was 17 years old. 195

Wn.2d 106, 110-11, 456 P.3d 805 (2020). The resentencing court heard evidence that Delbosque had accumulated numerous prison infractions, was repeatedly investigated for gang-related violence between ages 29 and 32, and that as late as 2010, helped arrange a gang-related assault on another inmate. <u>Id.</u> at 113. The court considered a corrections officer's opinion that Delbosque functioned as a minimum-security

TT I

⁵ When resentencing an offender for aggravated murder under RCW 10.95.030, the court is *statutorily* required to consider rehabilitation. That is not so for crimes under the SRA. <u>Ramos</u> notes that a resentencing court "may certainly exercise its discretion to consider evidence of subsequent rehabilitation where such evidence is relevant to circumstances of the crime or the offender's culpability" but "declined to hold that the court is *constitutionally* required to consider such evidence in every case." 187 Wn.2d at 449 (emphasis added).

prisoner and two experts who evaluated Delbosque concluded that childhood trauma affected his decision-making as an adolescent and that he now posed a low risk to reoffend. Id. at 113. The court considered victim impact statements, as well as supportive testimony from Delbosque's siblings. Id. After considering all of this evidence, the resentencing court imposed a minimum sentence of 48 years, finding "that the crime committed by Mr. Delbosque is one of those rare cases where a life without the possibility of parole sentence would be appropriate." Id. at 113-14. The resentencing court found that Delbosque's trial effort to blame another for the murders and his violent prison record as an adult betrayed "an ongoing attitude to others that is reflective of Mr. Delbosque's underlying murder." State v. Delbosque, 6 Wn. App. 2d 407, 417, 430 P.3d 1153 (2018).

This Court reversed and remanded for another resentencing on grounds that the sentencing court failed to consider the mitigation evidence properly, overemphasizing the

facts of the crime, Delbosque's effort to avoid responsibility by blaming another, and his violent prison infractions as a mature adult, while disregarding or minimizing evidence supporting his claim of rehabilitation, including two expert opinions that he was a low risk for future dangerousness. 195 Wn.2d at 118-20. The Court recognized that juvenile sentencing law had continued to evolve after Delbosque's resentencing and offered additional guidance to resentencing courts. Citing a Ninth Circuit case with approval, this Court instructed courts to "reorient the sentencing analysis to a forward-looking assessment of the defendant's capacity for change or propensity for incorrigibility, rather than a backward-focused review of the defendant's criminal history." Id. at 122 (quoting United States v. Briones, 929 F.3d 1057, 1067 (9th Cir. 2019)).

While this Court did not overrule <u>Ramos</u> in <u>Delbosque</u>, the two decisions cannot be reconciled on any principled basis.

One case holds that so long as the record clearly demonstrates that the sentencing court gave meaningful individualized

consideration to juvenile brain development science and how that impacts culpability and the potential for rehabilitation, a reviewing court may not reweigh this evidence to invalidate a sentence. The other does exactly that, concluding on its review of the record that the sentencing court gave too much weight to evidence that Delbosque continued to violently offend after his brain reached maturity and not enough weight to his paid expert's opinions of his low risk to offend in the future.

In State v. Haag, __ Wn.2d __, 495 P.3d 241 (2021), this
Court again decided that a court resentencing a former juvenile
murderer had weighed the evidence wrong. There, a 17-yearold strangled and drowned a little girl in 1995, was convicted of
aggravated murder, and was sentenced to mandatory life
without parole. <u>Id.</u> at 243. He was resentenced in 2018 to a
minimum term of 46 years to life. <u>Id.</u> This Court reversed on
grounds that the resentencing court "gave undue emphasis to
retributive factors over mitigating factors." <u>Id.</u>

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