FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/23/2023 8:05 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100432-0

SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

V.

JEREMIAH JAMES GILBERT,

Defendant/Respondent.

RESPONSE

Dennis W. Morgan WSBA #5286 Attorney for Respondent P.O. Box 1019 Republic, Washington 99166 (509) 775-0777

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

ARGUMENT

Constitutional Art. I, § 35

The State's initial issue involves a balancing of victims' rights and the facts surrounding the criminal offense(s).

Const. art. I, § 35 states:

Effective law enforcement depends on cooperation from victims of crime. To ensure victims a meaningful role in the criminal justice system and to accord them due dignity and respect, victims of crime are hereby granted the following basic and fundamental rights.

Upon notifying the prosecuting attorney, a victim of a crime charged as a

felony shall have the right to be informed of and, subject to the discretion of the individual presiding over the trial or court proceedings, attend trial and all other court proceedings the defendant has the right to attend, and to make a statement at sentencing and at any proceeding where the defendant's release is considered, subject to the same rules of procedure which govern the defendant's rights. In the event the victim is deceased, incompetent, a minor, or otherwise unavailable, the prosecuting attorney may identify a representative to appear to exercise the victim's rights. This provision shall not constitute a basis for error in favor of a defendant in a criminal proceeding nor a basis for providing a victim or the victim's representative with court appointed counsel.

There can be no argument that the victim statements made during Mr. Gilbert's resentencing hearing were authorized pursuant to the constitutional provision. Their statements reflect the deep and lasting impact that Mr. Gilbert's offenses had on them individually and as a family.

The underlying facts of the respective offenses represent the basis for the victim's statements. Nevertheless, a sentencing court must strike a balance when making a determination as to whether or not a particular sentence falls within the ambit of constitutionality.

Both the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Const. art I, § 14 decry cruel and/or unusual punishment.

The Eighth Amendment prohibits mandatory life sentences without possibility of parole for youthful offenders under 18 years of age who have committed crimes involving homicide. An individualized sentencing hearing must take place and the court must take into account the attributes of youth and the life circumstances of the youth before determining a sentence. Life without parole sentences should be the rare exception. This includes de facto life sentences. *See: Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012).

Life without possibility of parole sentences for offenders under 18 years of age at the time of the crime are unconstitu-

tional. Such sentences necessarily encompass de facto life sentences. *See*: *State v. Bassett*, 192 Wn.2d 67, 428 P.3d 343 (2018); *see also State v. Haag*, 198 Wn.2d 309, 495 P.3d 241 (2021) (retribution must count for less than mitigating factors when conducting a resentencing hearing).

Washington ensures that crime victims and survivors of victims have a significant role in the criminal justice system through statutes and our state constitution. See, e.g. ch. 7.69 RCW; CONST. art. I, § 35 (Amend. 84). The courts have an obligation to vigorously protect these rights. RCW 7.69.010. However, these rights are not considered in a vacuum; they must be considered together with the defendant's due process rights. In the event that the crime victim(s) impede the defendant's due process rights, the court must make every reasonable effort to harmonize these distinct rights and to give meaning to all parts of the Washington State Constitution. State v. Gentry, 125 Wn.2d 570, 625, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995). To the extent that these rights are irreconcilable, federal due process rights supersede rights arising under Washington's statutes or constitution.

State v. MacDonald, 183 Wn.2d 1, 16, 346 P.3d 748 (2015).

Section I of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution states, in part:

No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

Const. art. I, § 3 provides: "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law."

The trial court's oral ruling adversely impacted Mr. Gilbert's due process rights when the court placed undue reliance upon the facts of the crime as opposed to Mr. Gilbert's rehabilitation.

RCW 10.95.030.

RCW 10.95.030 (the *Miller*-fix) provides, in part:

(3)(a)(i) Any person convicted of the crime of aggravated first degree murder for an offense committed prior to the person's sixteenth birthday shall be sentenced to a maximum term of life

imprisonment and a minimum term of total confinement of twenty-five years. (ii) Any person convicted of the crime of aggravated first degree murder for an offense committed when the person is at least sixteen years old but less than eighteen years old shall be sentenced to a maximum term of life imprisonment and a minimum term of total confinement of no less than twenty-five years. A minimum term of life may be imposed, in which case the person will be ineligible for parole or early release.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Mr. Gilbert falls within the parameters of RCW 10.95.030 (3)(a)(i). He has served the minimum 25 year term on the aggravated first degree murder conviction. The Indeterminate Sentencing Review Board (ISRB) has seen fit to parole him in connection with that conviction. (Appendix "B")

The stumbling block in Mr. Gilbert's case is the companion conviction of first degree murder. The sentencing courts have consistently imposed a consecutive 20 year minimum sentence in accord with the provisions of RCW 9.94A.540 (1)(a).

Another issue that arises, and which should have application insofar as resentencing is concerned, is the provision contained in RCW 9.94A.540 (3) which states:

- (a) Subsection (1)(a) through (d) of this section shall not be applied in sentencing of juveniles tried as adults pursuant to RCW 13.04.030(1)(e)(i).
- (b) This subsection (3) applies only to crimes committed on or after July 24, 2005.

The foregoing provision was enacted by Laws of 2005, Ch. 437, § 2 (eff. July 24, 2005).

Mr. Gilbert contends that the legislative enactment of RCW 9.94A.540 (3) derives from the decision in *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed.2d 1 (2005). His position gains credence from the legislative intent set out in § 1 of that act which states:

The legislature finds that emerging research on brain development indicates that adolescent brains, and thus adolescent intellectual and emotional capabilities, differ significantly from those of mature adults. It is appropriate to

take these differences into consideration when sentencing juveniles tried as adults. The legislature further finds that applying mandatory minimum sentences for juveniles tried as adults prevents trial court judges from taking these differences into consideration in appropriate circumstances.

(Emphasis supplied.)

It is at this juncture that the trial judge at Mr. Gilbert's resentencing hearing deviated from what is required in making a determination as to transient immaturity.

A sentencing court must take into consideration the difference between a child exhibiting "transient immaturity" and the other child whose crime reflects "irreparable corruption." The need to do so is set out in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. 190, 136 S. Ct. 718, 735, 193 L. Ed.2d 599 (2016); *see also Tatum v. Arizona*, 580 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 11, 196 L. Ed. 2d 284 (2016). where in referring to the consolidated cases, Justice Sotomayor ruled:

On the record before us, none of the sentencing judges address the question *Miller* and *Montgomery* require a sentencer to ask: whether the petitioner was among the very "lowest of juvenile offenders, those whose crimes reflect permanent incorrigibility."

This case was stayed pending the decision in *State v. Anderson*, 200 Wn.2d 266 (2022) It is of importance to Mr. Gilbert's case and the issues raised by the State. *See*: fn.8, p. 266:

Our opinion in *Haag*, like earlier cases, uses the common descriptors from landmark United States Supreme Court cases on juvenile justice, but we take this opportunity to note that some echo archaic notions and fail to capture the constitutional inquiry. Phrases such as "irreparable corruption" and "irretrievably depraved character" wrongly suggest a juvenile offender's innate character determines the constitutionality of their punishment. Roper Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 573, 570, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005). A more accurate—and less pejorative—description of the constitutional inquiry is one used in *Miller*, which considers the "hallmark features of youth, including immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences." 567 U.S. at 477, 132 S. Ct. 2455. In this opinion, we strive to frame the inquiry under Washington's constitution in these terms. The central question under article I, section 14 is whether and to what extent a juvenile offender's youthful characteristics were a factor in the commission of their crime(s). This is not a binary question; some juvenile offenders will be more influenced by their youthful characteristics than others. Accordingly, sentencing courts must meaningfully consider how, if at all, a juvenile offender's mitigating characteristics of youth affected the commission of their crime(s) to determine whether the juvenile offender is less culpable than an adult who engages in the same behavior.

What the trial judge did in rendering his decision that Mr. Gilbert's offenses were not the result of transient immaturity was to view those offenses from the standpoint of an adult having committed the offenses. It is due to this lapse by the trial court that resulted in Mr. Gilbert still be subjected to a de facto life sentence.

DE FACTO LIFE SENTENCE

When a trial court makes a finding that a juvenile offense does not reflect transient immaturity it tells that person that:

- 1) He/she is the worst of the worst;
- 2) You are incorrigible;
- 3) You are defective;
- 4) You cannot be rehabilitated;
- 5) You are a monster;
- 6) You are boogieman;
- 7) You have forfeited your right to live a free life.

Query: What constitutes a de facto life sentence?

This Court has previously indicated that a forty-six-year minimum term constitutes an unconstitutional de facto life sentence. Mr. Haag requested a twenty-five-year sentence at the resentencing hearing. The State requested a sixty year minimum sentence. *State v. Haag, supra* at 313.

The resentencing court's imposition of a forty-five-year sentence on Mr. Gilbert is also a de facto life sentence.

As in *Haag*, the current resentencing court also placed undue emphasis on retribution verses a mitigated sentence.

The *Haag* Court noted at 321-22 that

The Miller Court made clear that retribution cannot take precedence in juvenile sentencing. See 567 U.S. at 472, 132 S .Ct. 2455 ("Because '[t]he heart of the retribution rationale' relates to an offender's blameworthiness. 'the case for retribution is not as strong with a minor as with an adult." (quoting *Graham*, [560 U.S. 48, 71, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed.2d 825 (2010)]) It, instead, focused on the "mitigating qualities of youth." Id. at 476, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (quoting Johnson v. Texas, 509 U.S. 350, 367, 113 S. Ct. 2658, 125 L. Ed. 2d 290 (1993)). This followed the Court's decision in Graham, where the Court noted that states must provide juvenile offenders with "some *meaningful opportunity* to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." 560 U.S. at 75 (emphasis added); see also Miller, 567 U.S. at 473, 132 S. Ct.

2455 ("Graham 's reasoning implicates any life-without-parole sentence imposed on a juvenile.").

(Emphasis supplied.)

As matters now stand, Mr. Gilbert has been subjected to the mandatory minimum twenty-five year sentence for his aggravated first degree murder conviction and the mandatory twentyyear sentence for his first degree murder conviction. The mandatory minimums amount to the forty-five year sentence currently in effect.

Mr. Gilbert maintains that the resentencing court abused its discretion when it ignored the mitigation evidence presented through his Department of Corrections (DOC) history, accomplishments and the psychological evaluations by Dr. Roesch. Instead, the resentencing court nitpicked the DOC records, misapplied Dr. Wentworth's evaluation and basically gave little merit to Dr. Roesh's conclusion.

Discretion may be abused if it is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, such as a misunderstanding of the law. *State v. Quismundo*, 164 Wn.2d 499, 504, 192 P.3d 342 (2008) (citing *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003)).

State v. Enriquez-Martinez, 198 Wn.2d 98, 101, 492 P.3d 162 (2021).

It is apparent that the Court did not place a great deal of credence upon Mr. Gilbert's efforts at rehabilitation over the prior 27 years. Instead the Court cites to an infraction (May 12, 2017) which did not result in any designation of violence by Mr. Gilbert. (Appendix "C"-OMNI report); (WAC 137-25-030 (709); Appendix "D")

DOC has established various categories of serious infractions. Mr. Gilbert's infraction was "709- out of bounds- being in another offender's cell or being in an area in the facility with one or more offenders without authorization."

Dr. Roesch, in his testimony, stated the following concerning Mr. Gilbert's mental state

...[T]he testing showed that he does not have any major mental disorders, nor does he have a personality disorder, which includes antisocial personality disorder. And that finding was also the result of an interview and testing that was done by another psychologist as part of a parole hearing in 2017, Dr. Wentworth's evaluation.

She came to the same conclusion that he does not have any major mental health issues, does not have an antisocial personality disorder or any personality disorder.

(RP 76, 1. 22 to RP 78, 1. 2)

The trial court's misreading of Dr. Wentworth's report resulted in a conclusion that Mr. Gilbert suffered from antisocial personality disorders. Obviously the trial court overlooked the portion of that particular paragraph "this individual does not meet current diagnostic criteria for these disorder types and has not required mental health services while incarcerated" which is a positive factor in support of Mr. Gilbert's rehabilitation. (CP 256; Appendix "E")

As this court recognized in *State v. Gilbert*, *supra*, p. 175 (*Gilbert* I):

...[S]entencing courts must account for the mitigating qualities of youth and have absolute discretion to consider an exceptional downward sentence in light of such mitigating factors. We held that sentencing courts possess this discretion to consider downward sentences for juvenile offenders regardless of any sentencing provision to the contrary. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 21, 391 P.3d 409.

(Emphasis supplied.)

Furthermore, State v. Ramos, supra, p. 435 provides:

If the juvenile proves by a preponderance of the evidence that his or her crimes reflect transient immaturity, substantial and compelling reasons would necessarily justify an exceptional sentence below the standard range because a standard range sentence would be unconstitutional.

Even though the resentencing court reduced the consecutive sentence from 280 months to 240 months it obviously did so based upon the mandatory minimum of RCW 9.94A.540 (3)(b).

In *State v. Ramos*, *supra*, p. 436, the Court recognized that:

Miller establishes a substantive rule that a life-without-parole sentence cannot be imposed on a juvenile homicide offender whose crimes reflect transient immaturity. Therefore, where a juvenile offender facing a standard range life-without-parole sentence proves that his or her crimes reflect transient immaturity, the juvenile has necessarily proved that there are substantial and compelling reasons for an exceptional sentence downward. Miller anticipates that most juveniles will be able to meet this burden of proof, and we now explicitly hold that all juvenile homicide offenders must be given the

opportunity to do so at a *Miller* hearing.

The case of *State v. Delbosque*, 195 Wn.2d 106, 456 P.3d 806 (2020) consists of similar facts to Mr. Gilbert's case. Mr. Delbosque was convicted of one count of aggravated first degree murder and a further count of second degree felony murder.

The importance of the *Delbosque* case relates to its discussion concerning the *Ramos* case. The *Delbosque* Court stated at 122:

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